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Preface



Early 2023


Undisclosed Location


The beating heart of the largest FBI investigation in American history isn’t in the J. Edgar Hoover Building, or in Quantico, or in the type of drab federal office building a screenplay writer would refer to as nondescript. It’s in places like Alex’s garage.


When the US Capitol came under attack two years earlier, on Jan. 6, 2021, Alex was hundreds of miles away, and he was pissed. He’d watched the day unfold on Fox News, and he couldn’t believe what he saw. That was his Capitol. That was our Capitol. One of his daughters had a basketball game that night, and when she joined him on the bleachers after her game ended, he couldn’t quite find the words to articulate to her the significance of the day. She’d been in school, so she wasn’t aware of all that took place in Washington. She probably wouldn’t appreciate it until later, he told her, but Jan. 6 was a very sad day for the country.


“I was still almost teary at that point after watching it,” Alex said. “I was trying to talk to her and just trying to explain to her what a big deal it was.”


Some of his friends didn’t seem to think Jan. 6 was all that bad, so Alex set out to prove them wrong, spending part of Jan. 7 surfacing videos that showed the extent of the violence and chaos at the Capitol.


“There was debate over whether there was antifa in the crowd, you know, all of the idiot arguments,” Alex said. “I was basically looking for videos to send to some of my right-wing friends just to show them this was not a peaceful rally.”


Alex stumbled upon some of the budding efforts to identify the rioters, watching as social media users began collaborating online. He’s a software guy, and he thought his skills might be useful. “Mass collection and standardization, and even web scraping of data, is something that is in my wheelhouse,” he said. His brain started churning.


How do you organize all this material? How do you archive all that content? How the hell do you quickly find the piece of evidence that you need? How do you enable others?


A couple of months later, Alex made the tough decision to skip out on a family vacation. He had an app to launch.


Flash forward to 2023. A community of online sleuths—“Sedition Hunters,” as they’d dubbed themselves—had aided in hundreds of cases against Jan. 6 defendants. What’s more, the sleuths had identified more than 700 Jan. 6 participants who had not yet been arrested.


There was a funeral home director who’d sprayed cops with a wasp and hornet spray. A celebrity photo collector who’d had his photo taken with Rihanna, Selena Gomez, and Kim Kardashian. An ex-NFL player. A neurosurgeon. A stand-up comic named Kevin Downey Jr., who’d been on America’s Got Talent a decade earlier.1 A Trump enthusiast who’d flashed a gun at the Capitol and then fatally stabbed a nineteen-year-old at a park a few months later.2 Another male model, another corrections officer, another police officer, another real estate agent. A fan of anthropomorphized animals, seen on the Senate floor on Jan. 6, who was identified because a sleuth did a deep dive into the world of furries and found the man’s name (and his pseudonym, or “fursona”) because the man hosted a furry Thanksgiving party at his “den.” A guy who’d previously been arrested for playing a musical instrument naked in public, and a guy who’d since been arrested for walking around his neighborhood without pants.3 A man associated with the Proud Boys who’d been at the Capitol with his son and was subsequently arrested—with the help of DNA—for the decades-old murder of a seventeen-year-old girl. They’d soon find a husband and wife, both of them Trump administration officials, who climbed through a Capitol window.


The new identifications weren’t stopping. One day in early 2023, an online investigator—after combing through what he described as “an avalanche of dicks”—identified a former gay porn actor who appeared to assault a police officer. That wasn’t a first.


“The things I do for this country,” the sleuth, who I’ll call Josh, jokingly messaged me when he got a match. “The number of dicks I’ve had to see in the name of preserving our democracy, someone should give me a goddamn medal.”


The sleuths accomplished all this, in no small part, thanks to an app Alex had whipped up in his garage. Alex’s app was one of the main tools of the manhunt: driving investigations, organizing information, generating new leads.


Oh! One other thing: Alex voted for Trump. Twice.


That one came as a bit of a shocker to Alex’s fellow Sedition Hunters.


“There are moments in life that you never forget where you are when they happened. Sept. 11. Michael Jackson dying. Finding out Alex voted for Trump in 2020,” Josh joked. “It was less of a record scratch moment and more of a record getting blown up by a tomahawk missile moment.”
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In the two years since the Capitol attack, the feds had racked up impressive numbers: nearly one thousand cases, about five hundred guilty pleas, dozens of significant prison sentences, and the largest number of seditious conspiracy verdicts in modern American history. Federal prosecutors around the country had stepped up to assist the US Attorney’s Office for the District of Columbia, which was overseeing a breathtaking number of cases. Assistant US attorneys from across the country were dialing in for hearings and flying in for trials. Now some of those offices were wondering how long this was going to last, how much longer they’d have to dedicate their personnel to the Capitol probe.


“Our work is far from over,” Attorney General Merrick Garland assured the American public at the two-year mark. “We remain committed to ensuring accountability for those criminally responsible for the January 6 assault on our democracy. And we remain committed to doing everything in our power to prevent this from ever happening again.”


Alex wasn’t so sure. He’s a data and numbers guy, and the math just didn’t work out. The clock on the statute of limitations was ticking, and the feds were quickly approaching the halfway mark. The sleuths had long given up on the notion that everyone who stormed the Capitol or assaulted law enforcement that day—more than three thousand people, they’d determined—would be held accountable. Now they were concerned that the feds wouldn’t even charge all the violent offenders in time.


There are many ways to describe the federal investigation in the Jan. 6 attack on the US Capitol. Unprecedented. The largest FBI investigation in American history (by number of defendants, Sept. 11 investigation alums will remind you). Garland called the investigation into Jan. 6 and efforts to interfere with the peaceful transfer of power “the most wide-ranging investigation, and the most important investigation, that the Justice Department has ever entered into.”4


Another way to describe it? A clusterfuck.


FBI special agents and federal prosecutors were overwhelmed. Hundreds of thousands of tips had rolled in, which would have been a tremendous logistical challenge even if the FBI weren’t a massive, sprawling bureaucracy operating with antiquated communication and organization technology. Critical evidence against key violent defendants was buried within the bureaucracy, siloed into bunkers, and not readily searchable or organized.


And there was an enormous amount of digital evidence. The FBI had nearly four million files, thirty thousand videos from body-worn cameras, surveillance video, and the footage rioters had captured on their own devices. You’d be able to watch all the video in just under a year, provided you didn’t sleep. The FBI’s information technology (IT) offerings—yesterday’s technology tomorrow, went the unofficial motto—were less than agile, burdened by onerous security settings that made simple operations like sharing large files and reviewing publicly available evidence burdensome.


Some sleuths had formalized relationships with the FBI at this point, and the community knew how much their work was appreciated and thought the bureau special agents they dealt with were dedicated. But they also knew how bad the bureaucracy could be. Sedition Hunters were building entire cases for the FBI from soup to nuts, but the bureau’s rules made it difficult for special agents to offer even basic updates on the status of investigations. The one-way street was frustrating. The best written feedback they could hope for was maybe one word: “received.” One FBI informant was thrilled just to get thumbs-up emojis from her FBI handler.


Politics was also clearly playing a role, although it was tough to say to what extent. There had long been rumblings about certain FBI field offices being less than enthusiastic about bringing Capitol attack cases, and now some of those internal battles had spilled into public view.


For someone like Alex—who, in the private sector, was used to being able to pivot and adapt quickly, to make changes when things weren’t working—it was maddening.


“There’s something that’s so fundamentally broken,” Alex told me. “We’re going to figure it out one day, and we’re all going to be pissed that we allowed it to happen.”
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Since a mob of Donald Trump supporters whipped up by his lies about the 2020 election stormed the US Capitol on Jan. 6, I’ve immersed myself in the communities of online sleuths who are driving the FBI investigation. I’ve learned the names of hundreds of not-yet-arrested Jan. 6 participants, including the names of over one hundred individuals on the FBI’s Capitol Violence page who are not yet facing charges.


I’ve spent months getting to know many of the sleuths. I’ve talked to sleuths all over the country about their techniques, their motivations, and their biggest finds. I know some by their real names, others only by their handles and their investigative track records. We’ve bonded over child-rearing, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD, a common diagnosis among sleuths, it turns out!), sports rivalries, bingeable shows, and memes. Lots of memes.


Many I’ve even met IRL (“in real life”) on their trips to DC. I took one sleuth to the restaurant in the Mayflower Hotel where former FBI director J. Edgar Hoover ate lunch every day for twenty years, which now bears the name Edgar. I took others to the restaurant where, months later, federal prosecutors on the first successful seditious conspiracy trial in modern history would celebrate. One weekend, I even took my daughter on a playdate with a sleuth’s kid, walking around the Capitol grounds and then watching as they wolfed down ice cream on the National Mall and entered into a heated debate on whether “chitchat” was a real term. Another sleuth, who’d made the jump back into journalism as a result of his Sedition Hunters work, proved himself a very adept aide when my kid brought out the Where’s Waldo? books during his visit.


I’ve covered the Justice Department for more than a decade, and I’d talked with FBI informants before. But none of them hold a candle to the impact the Sedition Hunters have had. Working out of their home offices, from their couches, kitchen tables, bedrooms, garages, and—in one case—from the sleeper cab of their semitruck, this group of anonymous Americans has been working to hold the FBI’s feet to the fire to make sure these cases don’t get buried.


Jan. 6 was a pivot point for American democracy. It was also a pivot point for the FBI and law enforcement, which were caught flat-footed despite all the warning signs flashing online ahead of Jan. 6 and were left playing catch-up with open-source researchers moving at internet speed.


“How was it that this mass of civilian sleuths were able to compile all this information, and so rapidly?” DC Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) officer Michael Fanone, whose assailants were identified by online sleuths, later asked me. “Maybe we need to be changing what it is that we’re looking for in our hiring, because I sure as shit don’t know how to do any of that crap. I still fucking turn off my computer by pulling the plug.”
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The sleuths aren’t a monolith. They’re from across the country, from the east coast to California, from the deep south to the Midwest. Especially early on, there were several sleuths living outside the country, including a meme-making grandma from the Hague who made TikToks with her granddaughter. There were sleuths from right around DC too, including the spouse of a police officer who served on Jan. 6.


There were a handful of different sleuth groups that organized under different banners, with some members who belonged to multiple groups. A lot of the initial buzz was on Twitter, but soon moved to the messaging applications that prospered during the pandemic. Soon sleuths were bonding and forming real friendships, even when they were talking to people they only knew by their screennames and profile images. Early on, after one sleuth mentioned that they were expecting a child, another sleuth offered up breastfeeding advice, only to learn they were talking to a soon-to-be dad. Now they exchange Christmas cards.


Some sleuths kept at it a few weeks, others a few months. Others popped in-and-out, as their life and schedule allowed. Some were already plotting what was going to happen after Jan. 6, 2026, when the statute of limitations expired, and the justification for withholding the names of identified rioters from the public—namely, that making those names known would negatively impact the cases they hoped the feds were building—was no longer a concern.


They’d scour Facebook, Instagram, YouTube, Twitter, TikTok, Rumble, Gab, and Telegram. Venmo, the payment app that defaulted to lax security settings, proved particularly useful in making connections. Facial recognition played a big role in creating initial leads, but the biggest dopamine hits came from the finds that took some work. One rioter was identified because of the “dumb ass way he folds the brim of his hat”—a sleuth was scouring Parler profiles and the hat fold caught their eye.


Fresh video was the lifeblood of the investigation, and it would help in ways that were tough to imagine. A lot of rioters did a frustratingly solid job of keeping their face covered the entire time they were at the Capitol. But in one instance, in a moment caught on video, a rioter whose face was fully covered pulled out their phone. The video caught a glimpse of the screen, revealing a background image that showed the name of the rioter’s small business. That’s all it took.
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There’s a person playing an important role in all this: a lightning rod, a “middle man,” or “middle woman”—the FBI has kept their gender a secret, and I’ll do so here too. They’re a confidential human source, or CHS, for the FBI. I’ll call them Chris. Read through the thousand or so FBI affidavits in Jan. 6 cases, and you’d eventually stumble upon a paragraph from a case in mid-2022 that describes Chris like this:5




This CHS was an established source who led a team of open-source researchers who collaborated shortly after January 6, 2021, to identify United States Capitol rioters. This CHS group was motivated by a desire to assist law enforcement regarding the events of January 6, 2021, at the United States Capitol. The CHS did not have personal knowledge of the subjects of reporting, but rather derived the information solely through open-source research.





In other FBI affidavits, you’d learn that Chris wasn’t working off any charges, that “his/her sense of outrage regarding the attacks on law enforcement during the events of January 6, 2021” had motivated them, and that they were willing to testify if necessary.6 You’d learn that Chris had never steered them wrong. Two years after Chris and other sleuths had dedicated countless hours to aiding the FBI investigation, an affidavit against a Montana man who had brought his minor child inside the Capitol on Jan. 6 revealed that Chris had, by that point, “been compensated for his/her time.”7


Chris knew the sleuths were having a big impact. It wasn’t until they visited the FBI sometime in 2021 that they realized the extent of it, when they were able to meet with members of law enforcement who had served on Jan. 6 and appreciated the work of the online sleuths identifying those who had assaulted them.


Chris had done a lot of things in their life. They’d raised tens of thousands of dollars for charity, volunteered thousands of hours, and even saved a guy’s life once. But when a Capitol Police officer handed them a challenge coin, they felt as if this was one of the most important things they’d ever done.


The nation’s premier law enforcement organization was relying on a ragtag group of so-called amateurs from the internet to piece together the story of Jan. 6. Chris became increasingly tight-lipped about their work with the FBI as time went on, and I’d heard that the bureau would regularly question them about their interactions with me. Soon after that first meeting with the bureau, though, Chris was clearly floored by just how critical the sleuths had been to the investigation.


“The impact we had is huge,” Chris said, a fedora festooning their head, like a detective in a film noir. In an almost Trumpian style, they motioned with their hands and widened their eyes. “Huge!” they mouthed.















PART I














CHAPTER 1



“Locker Room Talk”


The presidential election was approaching, and a small group of Donald Trump supporters was plotting.


One thought Trump was “the man.”1 They all posted right-wing memes on Facebook. They said they were prepared to kill their perceived enemies, the people Trump said hated America. They were militia members, and they planned to provide security at Trump campaign events. There was talk of overthrowing the government if Trump was declared the loser, talk of placing a bomb at the US Capitol, talk of dragging politicians from the building and lynching them in the streets.


Trump had warned them that there’d be fraud, that the election was “rigged” against him. He asked his supporters to go to “certain areas” to watch voters at the polling place.2 “It’s one big fix,” Trump told his supporters a few weeks before the election. “This whole election is being rigged.”3 Perhaps, Trump suggested, “the Second Amendment people” would do something if he lost.4


Curtis Allen had posted a Trump campaign sign outside his trailer in a mobile home park in Liberal, Kansas, a town of nineteen thousand just north of the border with the Oklahoma Panhandle. He was a military veteran who enlisted in the US Marine Corps at the age of seventeen, getting his parents, Jamie and Fred, to sign off on a contract just a few days before he began his senior year of high school in Ashland, Kansas. His twin brother, Kevin, enlisted too. Just after graduation, one week after the twins turned eighteen, Curtis arrived in San Diego. He’d spend four years in the Marines, and he later enlisted in the US Army National Guard. When foreign terrorists attacked the United States on Sept. 11, 2001, Allen was mobilized as an airport security officer in Garden City and Dodge City, Kansas, where he supervised twelve soldiers and worked as a liaison between airport officials, law enforcement, and his command structure.5


As the war on terror ramped up, so did Allen’s responsibilities. He went to Germany in support of the war in Afghanistan and then served in Iraq during one of the bloodiest stretches of the conflict. He was staying at a camp nicknamed Rocket City, which had been described as the most attacked military base in Iraq. He’d been knocked down by the force of rockets that struck the runway. He saw the dead bodies of Iraqi children, a memory that now moved him to tears. When a car bomb went off nearby, he “observed a large pail of water with a man’s face floating in it.”


He talked all about it when he walked into the Veterans’ Affairs (VA) Medical Center in Wichita. He had trouble sleeping and felt “restless, keyed up, and on edge almost every minute of every day.” They diagnosed him with major depressive disorder and then posttraumatic stress disorder. He eventually began to receive a partial disability payout.


Now Allen was almost fifty, working as an alarm salesman, and he took on a second job at a mobile home dealership. He was thinking about starting his own ammunition business.6 He only sporadically talked to his daughter and brother. Much of his time was spent on Facebook, where he’d digest and repost right-wing memes.


He had an on-again, off-again girlfriend named Lula Harris, who’d sometimes stay at the trailer home he’d surrounded with stones painted red, white, and blue. They’d met at a bar in Wichita a decade earlier, not far from the VA. She was trying to get an intoxicated friend to the car, but she gave Curtis her phone number, and they met up at the same bar again a few days later. Eventually Lula moved in. But Lula said Curtis was sleeping around, including with an old flame, the wife of a police officer from Washington state.


“Short, tall, skinny, fat, he just loved them all,” Lula told me. “He just had a fetish for women.”


Allen could be abusive. He wasn’t supposed to own a gun because of his record of domestic violence. But there were some good times. The couple were preppers who talked about moving up to Alaska and living off the grid with solar panels. She made quilts; Allen made a tepee.


There were also, of course, the carnal benefits. Dan Day, a fellow gun enthusiast who spent time with Lula and Curtis, said Lula used to joke about how she was only with Curtis because of the size of his penis.


“That’s what she was saying, ‘He’s got a nine-inch cock, and that’s why I stayed around,’” Day said. “She would say that to everybody.”


She certainly wasn’t shy about it. “The sex was good,” Lula told me.7 “Hate to say that, but, yup.”


In the leadup to the election, Allen had been a commander of the Kansas Security Force, or KSF, and had cards with his name and phone number on them. “Recruiting Now!” the card read, featuring the logo of the far-right Three Percenters movement. He went by CO, for “commanding officer.” Day served as the “vetting” and “intelligence officer” for the KSF division that covered the western part of the state, and was known as Minuteman. Patrick Stein and Gavin Wright were members too, with Stein going by XO, for “executive officer,” and Wright going with the nickname Sparky, for his knowledge of electrical work.


Lula, who had just gotten out of cancer treatment, would sometimes listen in to their calls over a walkie-talkie application called Zello. It wasn’t too difficult to hear what was up since Curtis had terrible hearing and used the speakerphone. He was also watching videos about explosives, and he played a CD of The Anarchist Cookbook on repeat so many times that Lula knew the bomb recipes.8


Indeed, a plan was forming. Stein, a former drug addict and current farmer, laid out his thinking in a message to a like-minded man set to help them acquire bomb materials.


“We are dedicated patriots with love of country that doesn’t end and we are all willing to die for this country if that is what it takes to get it back,” he wrote.


They’d wait until after voters had cast their ballots. A preelection attack would harm Trump’s campaign, he reasoned, giving Democrats a talking point.


“I don’t want to give them any ammunition at all if we don’t have to,” Stein wrote. “My thoughts are that it will not be until right after the election. That obstacle will be out-of-the-way at that point.”


The stakes were just far too high, and the group couldn’t do anything that would hurt Trump’s chances, Stein said. After all, they thought Trump was going to lose, or at least that’s what the media would say.


“We cannot in any way let Hillary back in to the White House,” he texted.9
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The plot out of Kansas unfolded during the 2016 presidential election, before Trump’s surprise electoral college victory and chaotic presidency. Before Charlottesville, when Trump said there were “very fine people” among the neo-Nazis and white supremacists, one of whom ran over demonstrators with his Dodge Challenger, killing a young woman named Heather Heyer. Before a Trump “superfan” who lived in a van in Florida mailed pipe bombs to Democratic politicians, media figures, and people Trump had attacked. Before El Paso, where a gunman shot and killed twenty-three people in a Walmart and wrote a manifesto that echoed Trump’s language about the “invasion” on the Mexican border.


Allen and the three others—Stein, Wright, and Day—spent hours and hours discussing what would have been one of the worst domestic terrorist attacks in American history. They also became associated with the Liberty Restoration Committee, an effort led by a truck driver with a YouTube channel who wanted to abolish the federal government.10


“We can clear out the government, get a new constitution, and if they don’t do it, we’ll take this up to them, and if they won’t voluntarily leave, we will kill them and force them out,” Day later said, describing the plan. Stein was even more blunt.


“The only fucking way this country’s ever going to get turned around is it will be a bloodbath and it will be a nasty, messy motherfucker,” Stein said. It was time that “people in this country wake up and smell the fucking coffee and decide they want this country back,” he said.11


They talked about a lot of potential targets to send a political message, to wake up the rest of the country. There was even talk of attacking Washington.


“I’ve said it for fucking years that if we, the American people knew what is going on in D.C. we would storm that place—fucking place, we would grab every motherfucker up there, we’d lynch them downtown and burn the whole motherfucker to the ground,” said Stein.


Wright chimed in. “Park the bomb next to the fucking Senate and blow the whole fucking building up,” he said.12


Maybe they could team up with the Liberty Restoration Committee and other militias and “unite and fucking just go up there and grab the motherfuckers,” Stein said. “Or Trump comes in. I mean, there’s a whole scenario.”


As I scrolled through their Facebook pages during the last few weeks of the 2016 campaign, Stein stuck out as the biggest Trump enthusiast.


“I WOULD VOTE FOR TRUMP AT HIS WORST ANY DAY OF THE WEEK OVER HILLARY AT HER BEST,” read one meme Stein posted on Facebook. Another meme—a Photoshopped image of Trump shaking Obama’s hand—featured the caption “DONALD TRUMP GRABBING A PUSSY.”13


Given their admiration for Trump, it wasn’t surprising that one of Trump’s top targets on the campaign trail was also in the crosshairs of the group that dubbed themselves “the Crusaders.”


“I think Islam hates us,” Trump had said, as though the world’s nearly two billion Muslims were a single inseparable and evil being. Trump called for a Muslim ban, a “total and complete shutdown” of Muslims entering the United States. He mocked the Gold Star mother of Muslim soldier Humayun Khan, who died in a 2004 car bombing in Iraq. He claimed, without evidence, to have seen footage of “thousands” of Muslims celebrating the Sept. 11 attack in Jersey City.14


The Crusaders took things even further. Stein called himself “Orkinman,” after the pest control company, and referred to Muslims as “cockroaches” he wanted to exterminate. They zeroed in on an apartment complex in Garden City that was home to refugees from Somalia, many of whom worked at the Tyson Foods beef slaughterhouse.


“There were Muslims all over the place,” Lula told me. One time, she said, Curtis told her he went to Walmart to buy a bacon pan for the microwave, and a Muslim associate had to get someone else to help him find the pan because they did not want to be associated with a product used to cook pork. He started boycotting Walmart after that. Lula had her concerns too, which seem ripped right from a right-wing Facebook algorithm.


“In schools, we’ve had change,” Lula later complained to me. “It used to be Christmas break; now it’s winter break. It used to be ‘Merry Christmas’; now it’s ‘Happy holidays.’”


She listened to Curtis rant about Sharia law, a possible Muslim takeover. So when she heard Curtis and his militia buddies talking about harassing Muslims with dead hogs, she didn’t have any strong objections.


“If they cut a pig’s throat and ran it into a mosque, I’d probably have laughed. If it hadn’t affected anybody, I’d have probably laughed. That would’ve been something funny, because just the beliefs of them and bacon. I would’ve laughed about something like that if it didn’t hurt anybody,” Lula said. “But this was not something that was, you know, I guess it was way more serious.”


More serious, indeed. Stein was the most vocal of the bunch, acting in a way that even embarrassed someone like Lula, whom nobody would describe as shy. It was one thing to rant and rave in close company, but Stein took it beyond that. She remembered him using the N-word to refer to then president Barack Obama when they stood in line waiting for barbeque at a county fair.


“We’ve got Black people standing a few people away from us,” Lula said. “He was loud, obnoxious, I mean, just wanting a confrontation with somebody.”


That wasn’t even the worst of Stein’s public outbursts. Once, when scouting out buildings in Garden City with Day, Stein pulled his gun from his truck console and threatened to kill two Muslim women—“raghead bitches,” he called them—on the street.


What neither Stein nor the other men knew—and wouldn’t learn until after the FBI arrests and their first court appearance—was that Day was an FBI confidential human source, or CHS. “Minuteman” was what his FBI handler called him. And when Stein pulled his gun, Day had his hand on his weapon too.


“I was not going to let him kill these innocent women because they were who they were, because they were Somalis or Muslims,” Day said.15


Tony Mattivi, a Kansas-based federal prosecutor with an affinity for American-flag socks, wasn’t so sure about Day at first. Mattivi had been an assistant US attorney since 1998, working drug-trafficking cases along with bank robberies and gang cases. He did a stint in Iraq, advising Iraqi prosecutors who were bringing cases against members of Saddam Hussein’s regime, including the man known as “Chemical Ali,” who was hung for gassing more than five thousand Kurds.16 Mattivi also led the prosecution of Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri, the man accused of organizing the al Qaeda bombing of the USS Cole in 2000, which killed seventeen soldiers. He supervised the trial team for nearly five years, until 2013, arguing motion after motion at a pop-up courtroom set near an old, dilapidated airplane hangar in Guantanamo Bay, Cuba.17 The military commissions process at Guantanamo is notoriously messy, and just like the Sept. 11 tribunals, the USS Cole case still hasn’t begun more than two decades after both attacks.


Back home in Kansas, Mattivi took on other terrorism cases. One was against Terry Lee Loewen, a fiftysomething al Qaeda sympathizer who came onto the FBI’s radar after he befriended someone who regularly posted about violent jihad. Loewen worked at the Wichita airport and planned to use his access card to enter a secure area at the airport. But the explosives he was provided by undercover FBI employees were inert, and Loewen was arrested when he tried to use his key card.18


Another of Mattivi’s cases was against a twenty-year-old US citizen named John T. Booker who had been preparing to join the US Army. Three weeks before he was supposed to report to basic training, he fired up his Facebook page. “I will soon be leaving you forever so goodbye! I’m going to wage jihad and hopes that i die,” he wrote in a public post. Someone tipped off the FBI, the FBI interviewed him, and Booker admitted he was planning to commit an insider attack, as Nidal Hassan had done in Fort Hood. Booker was denied entry into the military, and the FBI stayed on his tail. Months later, under the eyes of two FBI informants, he was filming a jihad video and purchasing bomb components. The FBI arrested him as he prepared to set off an inoperable bomb at Fort Riley, an attack he thought he was carrying out on behalf of the Islamic State.19


These types of FBI stings against supporters of groups like al Qaeda and ISIL were relatively common. There was an FBI playbook for these cases, one that played out in the hundreds of stings the FBI had run since Sept. 11.20 Such cases often came under heavy scrutiny from defense attorneys and civil liberties advocates, who said that the defendants often lacked the financial, and mental, capacity to actually pull off the attacks. But courts routinely rejected claims of entrapment.


The FBI takes a much different approach to investigating “foreign” and “domestic” terrorism. The distinction has nothing to do with the location of the attack but rather the origin of the underlying ideology motivating it. Under US law, groups like al Qaeda and ISIL were designated foreign terrorist organizations, meaning they were subject to a different set of laws. Those laws don’t apply to “domestic” terrorist organizations, like the Ku Klux Klan or your local right-wing militia. Terrorist attacks motivated by racist hate or by anti-Muslim bigotry? American as apple pie.


Comparatively, there’s a relatively low bar for foreign terrorism charges. Just retweeting a message supporting one of those groups could be the basis of a case alleging material support for a designated terrorist organization.21 There was also a very real threat: Islamic extremists had pulled off several successful terrorist attacks in the years since Sept. 11, including the 2013 Boston Marathon bombing, the 2015 San Bernardino attack, and the 2016 Pulse nightclub shooting, which would kick the Crusaders’ plot into overdrive. But the threat had evolved. Between 1994 and 2020, right-wing terrorists perpetrated the majority of the attacks and terrorist plots in the US, according to a report from the Center for Strategic and International Studies in June 2020, which predicted future terrorist attacks, particularly around the upcoming presidential election.22


Mattivi had a well-established track record in the foreign terrorism space. But domestic terrorism cases, with their higher standards and potential for political blowback, were a new challenge.


“Man, it gets really murky, really fast,” Mattivi told me.


Domestic organizations, no matter how odious their views, enjoy the protection of the First Amendment, an essential element of American democracy that guarantees people the right to express even the most morally repugnant views without fear of government prosecution. And there’s reason to be cautious with federal investigations into political organizations: the FBI has a sordid history of targeting disfavored political interests, including Martin Luther King Jr.


There’s not a stand-alone crime of domestic terrorism on the federal level, which means that even domestic terrorists like Dylann Roof—the white supremacist who slaughtered nine people inside a church in Charleston in 2015—were not charged with a federal crime of terrorism.


Roof may have been charged with hate crimes, but his attack was clearly domestic terrorism under federal law. The lack of a federal terrorism charge, however, can shape the entire public discussion around an event, with enormous societal and legislative consequences. It’s something I pressed former FBI director James Comey about when he sat down with reporters a few weeks after the attack. By that time, Roof’s racist manifesto had made his intent clear.


“Given the nature of my business, I only operate in a legal framework,” Comey told me. “The only world I live in is when you bring charges against someone and charge them with something under a particular provision that is a terrorism statute, and so that’s the framework through which I look at it.”23


There were a “whole lot” of FBI analysts and agents who worked domestic terrorism cases, Comey said, and he was confident the bureau was putting in the resources where they made sense.


Even when the feds did bring a case against domestic terrorists, it wasn’t always clear at the outset. Without a domestic terrorism statute, federal prosecutors would bring whatever charge was applicable. Sometimes, for neo-Nazis, it was a charge under a rarely used statute that made it unlawful for a drug addict to possess a weapon. Frequently, the most readily available charge was a local crime, meaning the suspects were shuffled off to state prosecutors.


“In many instances, the government is going to be constrained, to a certain degree, from stepping in front of a podium and saying, ‘Ladies and gentleman, we’re revealing domestic terrorism here,’” the Justice Department’s counsel for domestic terrorism, Thomas Brzozowski, explained.24 But that doesn’t mean it’s not domestic terrorism.


When the feds have brought domestic terrorism cases, they’ve often fallen apart at trial. Not only is the legal landscape a challenge but judges and juries are just a lot more sympathetic to someone they can imagine as a family member or neighbor than, say, to an ISIL sympathizer.


So when Mattivi learned that his FBI counterparts in Kansas were investigating a militia group, he proceeded with caution.


“I was skeptical. Not just of Dan, but whether any of these groups were more than just talk,” Mattivi told me.


Like Stein, Day, and the Crusaders, Mattivi wasn’t a big Hillary Clinton fan. “I would rather vote for your cocker spaniel than Hillary Clinton,” Mattivi joked. Yet he had a much different view of the world than did those he would end up prosecuting in what would be, at its time, one of the most significant domestic terrorism trials to go before a jury in the twenty-first century.


When Mattivi thinks of Ifrah Ahmed, he thinks of the “embodiment of the American dream.” Ahmed is a community leader in Garden City who was born in a refugee camp in Kenya to Somali refugees, came to the US as a young woman, and spent time working at the Tyson plant.


“She is a refugee from a war-torn country. She comes here out of a sense of seeking safety and security. She takes a job that is difficult, gruesome, and tedious and dangerous that most Americans don’t want to do,” Mattivi said. She got her degree in psychology and now works to provide mental health and support services to refugee kids.


“That’s the kind of person that these knuckle-draggers wanted to kill,” Mattivi told me. “The person who, if you just look past her traditional dress and the color of her skin, what you see is the American dream. And yet somehow people who thought of themselves as patriots wanted to kill that person.”


Mattivi was also clear minded about the role that Trump’s rhetoric played in helping incite the plot against Muslim refugees like Ifrah. “These guys were whipped up by Trump himself, and a lot of his immigration rhetoric,” Mattivi later told me. “And I say that as a conservative Republican.”


Mattivi and the others working the case knew that the stakes were high and that it was critical to run this operation by the book, to build a strong case but also to guide the investigation to its proper end. Day, as federal appellate judges later wrote, had to be “careful not to plant ideas in defendants’ heads, given the FBI’s repeated instruction that he could only raise ideas that defendants themselves had already discussed.”25


So Day kept on recording. They needed a manifesto, Allen said, one that would inspire more attacks. “We are going to try to trigger the other like-minded people across the nation to fucking stand up and start doing the same thing we are doing,” Allen said.


“American people, you have to wake up while there still might be time to stop our gov’t from totally selling this country out,” they wrote in the manifesto. “Don’t be fooled by the words ‘conspiracy theory’ or ‘domestic terrorist,’ all this is a word game, ‘brainwashing’ by our gov’t. Standing up for the constitution is not domestic terrorism.


“This is a call to action by all Americans. Please do not just sit idle until we lose this once great nation!!”26


Day also introduced Stein to a black-market weapons dealer, and they all met at a remote field. Brian, the weapons dealer who was actually an undercover officer working for the FBI, soon linked up with Stein over an encrypted app. Stein saw it as divine intervention.


“I know that we have the man upstairs on our side. He works in mysterious ways and sometimes you just have to believe!” Stein wrote Brian.27


The FBI sting was building toward a breaking point, one that would bring the investigation to a conclusion in a safe, manageable manner.


Enter Lula. She was getting restless. She’d moved back in with Curtis as she recovered from cancer surgery, even though she thought Curtis’s womanizing had given her the human papillomavirus (HPV), which she thought had caused her cancer. She was also skeptical that she was still a part of their future, the life off the grid they’d talked about, if Curtis was planning on committing a terrorist attack. “How can you sit here talking about future plans when you’re going to do something this crazy, that most people don’t walk away from?” Lula said.


She was also sick of taking care of his puppy, she told me. That’s what ultimately sparked the fight: Curtis threatened the dog and then assaulted her, she said, when she threatened to call 911. When the cops arrived, she spilled on the whole plan, telling them that he was cooking explosives and plotting to kill Muslims.


“I really felt that if I hadn’t gotten out of the house, I probably wouldn’t have gotten out of the house,” Lula told me. “I knew too much information.” A few years later, Lula added a life event to her Facebook page. “Turned Ex in for Terrorism,” she wrote.


Allen’s arrest spooked Wright. But Stein moved ahead. The next day, he met with Brian, shooting fully automatic weapons provided by the FBI. They headed over to the apartment complex they planned to target. Stein told Brian he could provide three hundred pounds of fertilizer for a bomb. On Oct. 14, 2016, the duo met in a McDonald’s parking lot, where Stein had the fertilizer. They went inside the restaurant to talk over the payment plan and the plot. The FBI SWAT team moved in when Stein returned to his vehicle.


“I was doing it for the country, and you know that!” he told his mom shortly after his arrest.28


Inside the interrogation room, FBI special agents Robin Smith and Amy Kuhn tried to gain a bit of trust, to get Stein to open up. Their attempts to build a rapport didn’t go too far. Law enforcement, he believed, should be on his side, working to save America from those Democratic traitors.


“If we thought alike, this wouldn’t be happening,” Stein told the FBI special agents. “You’d be shaking my hand and saying thank you, my friend, my fellow citizen, for having the balls and the guts to stand for our country before we lose it.”
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I covered the militia case when it emerged weeks before the election, and I eventually traveled out to Wichita for the trial in 2018, tag teaming the story with my colleague Chris Mathias. When we had to sell our editors on sending us out to Kansas, we told them how incredibly rare it was for domestic terrorism cases—let alone plots that had been inspired in part by the sitting president—to go to trial. Chris and I each spent long stretches in Wichita, working from a small courthouse in Kansas’s biggest city, located about three and a half hours away from Garden City, Kansas, where the plot unfolded. There were precautions put in place. When Brian testified, the judge sent us to a different floor of the courthouse to watch a feed featuring only Brian’s voice, as part of an effort to protect his identity.


Politics were unavoidable. Jury selection took place just over a week after former deputy FBI director Andrew McCabe was dismissed after coming under attack from Trump.29 There was a potential juror who described himself as a “Western chauvinist,” a term used by members of the Proud Boys. He didn’t make the final cut.


“Locker room talk” was how one defense attorney described the defendants’ words, echoing the defense Trump used when tape surfaced of him bragging about how he could assault women because he was famous.30 They told jurors that their clients had been fooled by fake news on Facebook and that the federal government was targeting them for their conservative beliefs.


The defense tactics didn’t work. The evidence was overwhelming. Day’s testimony made an impact. So did that of Brody Benson, a member of the Kansas Security Forces militia, who testified that he had extremely anti-Muslim views but still was worried about what the group had planned.


“I actually thought it was not just talk—it was more of an actual action, action,” Benson said. “I had a gut feeling that what was just banter back and forth, ranting and everything else, was turning into something more serious and concrete.”


Mattivi emphasized to jurors that the defendants were being prosecuted not because of their beliefs but because of their actions.


“This isn’t a case about the thought police,” Mattivi said in his closing. “The defendants plotted to murder dozens of innocent men, women, and children. They didn’t just talk. They’re not here because of their words.”


The jury had been deliberating for not even a full day when I got the news while sitting in a breakroom in the courthouse basement: A verdict was back. Guilty, guilty, guilty. Stein, Wright, and Allen showed little emotion as the verdicts came down.31 Prison transport vans soon transported them from the courthouse back to jail to await their sentencing.


At a press conference across the street from the courthouse at the US Attorney’s Office, I asked US Attorney Stephen McAllister—the Trump-appointed top federal prosecutor in the state—what impact he thought Trump’s words had on the men’s actions. He dodged.


“I can’t say whether his rhetoric impacted the case or not,” McAllister said. “I don’t view this as a prosecution of speech at all.”


Day talked to me after the trial, saying he felt a “calling from God” to step in. “I’m not an over-religious person, but I believe in God and I believe he put me there at the right time, the right place, if that makes any sense.”32 Mattivi called him a hero. Day didn’t think of himself like that. He was just an average guy who did the right thing. He felt bad for the families of the extremists he helped send to prison but not as bad for the men themselves, who’d taken their political beliefs too far.


“I’d tell them fuck off,” Day said. “They made their choices.”
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Not long after the verdict, FBI director Chris Wray happened to be paying a visit to the FBI Kansas City Field Office as part of a tour of locations across the country. He asked Darrin Jones, the head of the field office, what sort of impact President Trump’s attacks on the bureau had on the jury. Mattivi was also in Kansas City at the time, so Jones called him to the office.


“At the time it was happening, I was scared,” Mattivi later explained. “I was really worried about what impact that was going to have on these jurors.” He was surprised how quickly the jury came back. They’d put on four weeks of evidence, and Mattivi’s rule of thumb was one day of deliberation for every week of evidence.


“I was shocked by how fast that was,” Mattivi said. “This trial could have come out very differently” had Day and the FBI special agents not been such effective witnesses and maintained their credibility with the jury.


“I truly believe that had it not been for Dan’s courage, and Robin and Amy’s tenacity, I really believe we would have been staring over the edge of a smoking black hole in Garden City,” Mattivi said. “I have no doubt that these guys were capable of it, they wanted to do it and they would have done it.”


Ahead of their sentencing, prosecutors sought a terrorism enhancement.33 Their sentencing hearing was held on Jan. 25, 2019, the day that Trump finally announced an end to the government shutdown that had left FBI employees and federal prosecutors unpaid. It was also the day that Roger Stone, the longtime Republican operative and fixture of Trump’s campaign, was indicted by Robert Mueller’s team on charges of obstructing an official proceeding, making false statements, and tampering with witnesses for allegedly interfering with the congressional investigation into Russian involvement in the 2016 election.34 FBI special agents had arrived at Stone’s home at dawn, and Stone later emerged from federal custody flashing peace signs à la Richard Nixon, whose face was tattooed between Stone’s shoulder blades.


Inside the courtroom in Kansas, Stein apologized to his family, but not for his conduct.35 He wanted to make sure everybody knew that he stood by his actions.


“I take full responsibility for everything I said and everything I did,” Stein said at his sentencing. “Nobody forced me to do any of it.”36


Allen, the Iraq War veteran, received twenty-five years in federal prison, plus ten years of supervised release. Wright received twenty-six. Stein was sentenced to thirty years, and would soon receive a few extra years for the dozens and dozens of child pornography images authorities found on his laptop and USB drives during the investigation.37 His anticipated release date is in 2045, when Stein will be in his midseventies.


By the time the trio was sentenced, James Comey was long gone, and Trump had pushed out Attorney General Jeff Sessions too. The Justice Department was headed by Matthew Whitaker, who just a few years earlier was working with a company that was shut down by a federal judge and fined $26 million38 for what the Federal Trade Commission called “an invention-promotion scam that has bilked thousands of consumers out of millions of dollars.”39 (His 2014 appointment had been touted by the company in a press release that announced the marketing launch of a “masculine toilet” for “well-endowed men.”40) Now Whitaker—who thought that the idea of “an independent Department of Justice should concern every American”41—was overseeing the Mueller investigation, despite a recommendation from career staffers that he recuse himself. The legitimacy of Whitaker’s appointment was on shaky constitutional grounds,42 and he would soon be replaced by William Barr. For now, though, Whitaker was the nation’s top law enforcement official.


“The Department of Justice works every day to thwart terrorist threats to the United States,” Acting Attorney General Whitaker said in a statement. “The defendants in this case acted with clear premeditation in an attempt to kill innocent people on the basis of their religion and national origin. That’s not just illegal—it’s morally repugnant.”43


Allen’s lawyers, writing their sentencing memo a few months before the release of the Mueller report, said that their client’s “misguided patriotism was inflamed by the rhetoric of the 2016 political climate and the influence of the Russian information warfare campaign against the American people” and that there was “definitive proof that Russians’ false propaganda invaded Mr. Allen’s Facebook account,” pointing out that a group Allen liked, called “America’s Freedom Fighters,” had shared Russian-created content.


Wright’s lawyers wrote that while a Trump fan was headed for years in federal prison for acting on hate and lies, the man who had helped boost that hate and those lies was in the White House.


It was a preview of things to come.


As long as Trump “commends and encourages violence against would-be enemies,” the lawyers wrote, any sentences imposed by federal judges would do “little to deter people generally from engaging in such conduct” if they believe they are protecting their country from the commander in chief’s enemies.44


“The speaker with the best bully pulpit in the world,” they wrote, “is never sanctioned for spreading fear and advocating harm.”















CHAPTER 2



[Distracted Boyfriend Meme]


Oct. 19, 2020


You have… one minute… remaining.


There were just two weeks left before the 2020 election, and the female robot voice said that time was running out. I was on the line with Justin Coffman, a twenty-nine-year-old from Tennessee, a retail worker and musician who’d been named bassist of the year at the Tennessee Music Awards a couple of years back and was now trying to get an anarcho-punk band off the ground. The phone call would be exactly fifteen minutes, and it would be pricey.


Your card was charged successfully, the voice told me at the beginning of the call. This call is from a corrections facility and is subject to monitoring and recording. Thank you for using GTL!


GTL, or Global Tel Link, calls itself “the corrections industry’s trusted, one-stop source for integrated technology solutions, delivering an innovative vision for the future while providing exceptional value today,” providing communications services to nearly two thousand corrections facilities.1 Critics say it’s an exploitative corporation that sends the families of prison and jail inmates into debt spirals just to talk to their loved ones, whether it be over the phone or via video.2


For me, it was the only way to reach a man whom Attorney General William Barr’s Justice Department was holding out as a poster boy for their aggressive, nationwide crackdown on antifascist protesters known as “antifa.”


It had been nearly five months since George Floyd was murdered by a police officer in Minneapolis, setting off protests across the country and launching a new phase in the Black Lives Matter movement. Most protests remained peaceful, but there were plenty that sparked chaos. Violence and rioting had broken out in cities across the country. At least six people died.3 Rioters caused millions in property damage. In response, local police frequently used excessive force.4


The FBI was overwhelmed, with demands flooding in from local law enforcement dealing with protests on a massive scale. David Bowdich had started off his law enforcement career as an officer with the Albuquerque Police Department before jumping to the FBI, where he’d been a SWAT team operator and sniper. During his stint at the FBI’s Los Angeles Field Office, Bowdich oversaw the investigation into the San Bernardino terrorist attack5 before ascending to the no. 2 position at the bureau in 2018 following the departure of frequent Trump target Andrew McCabe.


Nothing had quite prepared Bowdich for the crisis of the summer of 2020, with police chiefs from across the country asking for assistance on the streets and with investigations into crimes, as well as help with intelligence about what was behind the riots.


“We had violence day after day after day after day after day,” said Bowdich. “We had over a thousand law enforcement officers injured. We had two shot and killed out in California, one shot in the head out in Las Vegas. We had multiples who were injured, some severely.”6


This was a challenge the FBI wasn’t prepared for. On top of everything else, the FBI had to protect their own federal buildings: Bowdich had seen the “chilling” scenes of police departments abandoning stations under siege by rioters and dispatched SWAT teams to the bureau’s field offices to head off a similar fate. “We weren’t going to allow that,” Bowdich said. COVID-19 was raging, and vaccines weren’t yet available, making it even tougher to use one of the bureau’s standard tactical responses to volatile situations: bringing in overwhelming force.


“It’s not like a terrorist event in one location or an active shooter in one location,” Bowdich said. “The way the FBI does its business is we swamp that location. We push all sorts of assets there to help bring order to chaos, but that’s one city, usually, or one region.”


That’s a large part of the FBI’s mission. One of the bureau’s four guiding principles, laid out in a jargony FBI strategy document, is all about partnerships. Teaming up with local law enforcement proved beneficial both to the FBI and to law enforcement. Historically, that’s meant providing criminal background checks, maintaining the National Crime Information Center, running fingerprints, and providing forensics services that earn the bureau mentions on true crime shows like Dateline. Those local law enforcement partnerships greatly expanded after Sept. 11, as the federal government sought to make sure it was “left of boom,” meaning before an attack took place. “Prevent, Disrupt, Defeat”: that was the new mantra, and FBI-led Joint Terrorism Task Forces proliferated across the country.


Barr, who’d just turned seventy, was now a bit over a year into his second stint as the nation’s attorney general, having become the first man to serve in the position twice since the Civil War. He’d been just forty-one the first time he took on the job as the nation’s top cop, in 1991, under former president George H. W. Bush. The mission and technological changes that swept the bureau during the beginning of the twenty-first century were somewhat known to Barr despite his nearly three-decade-long absence from the Justice Department. That time in the private sector had been good to Barr, who was an executive vice president and general counsel for a telecommunications company that then merged with Verizon, where he was making $1.5 million a year, in 2001 dollars.7 After retiring from Verizon in 2008, he did a bit of consulting work, served on Time Warner’s board of directors, and kept a toe in politics as well.


Barr was a hard-liner. In his first round as attorney general, he had commissioned a report titled The Case for More Incarceration and moved hundreds of FBI counterintelligence agents onto gang cases.8 During the 1992 riots in Los Angeles following the acquittal of four officers charged in the beating of Rodney King, when Bush invoked the Insurrection Act and sent in the military to help restore order, Barr oversaw the federal response.


Barr certainly wasn’t averse to a military-adjacent role, and he relished in being referred to as “general,” even though he knows the reference is based on a historical mix-up. The title of attorney general is somewhat of a misnomer that has nothing to do with the military. “General” is actually the adjective in the title, as in “general counsel.” Nobody would refer to an in-house corporate lawyer as “general,” but it’s a relatively common way of referring to the head of the Justice Department. “It’s based on a mistake, but it’s a fortunate one,” Barr once said. In the early Bush years, when then attorney general Dick Thornburgh named Barr acting attorney general on a temporary basis when he was headed out of town, Barr popped on an army helmet, grabbed a pair of binoculars, and went out to one of the Justice Department’s balconies, joking that he was “looking for injustice.”9


When he arrived back at the Justice Department for round two as attorney general, Barr was ready to magnify a new problem. He started kicking off weekly national security meetings with the FBI by asking what they were doing about antifa.10


That a septuagenarian Fox News viewer would see antifa as one of the top issues confronting the nation isn’t exactly shocking. But Barr’s disdain for left-wing protesters wasn’t a fresh development. Back in 1968, when Barr was a seventeen-year-old freshman at Columbia University, he was heavily involved in a group called the Majority Coalition, which sought to shut down protests in which left-wing students occupied parts of the campus in opposition to the war in Vietnam.11 Barr joined his fellow conservative classmates and student athletes to form a blockade and prevent the Students for a Democratic Society from getting into the library. A fistfight broke out when they tried to cross the line. “Over a dozen people went to the hospital, between the two groups, when they tried to rush through,” Barr later recalled. “They didn’t get through,” he said with a smile.12


In Barr’s view, the rise in political violence that he believed began toward the end of the Obama administration came from the Left. When Donald Trump told his supporters to assault protesters, that was just “hyperbolic tough-guy language,” and violent incidents by Trump supporters against protesters were just “low-level” scuffles. “Trump supporters weren’t generating the rise in political violence,” Barr wrote in his 2022 memoir, in defiance of all data showing that deadly attacks were, in fact, coming primarily from the political right. “It came from the Left.”13


Barr believed the FBI already had a “robust program” keeping tabs on far-right threats, so he talked to FBI director Chris Wray about keeping tabs on threats “across the ideological spectrum” when he became attorney general in early 2019. The FBI had not been “as forward leaning” in monitoring left-wing extremists, Barr claimed, writing that there was “institutional reluctance” to surveil left-wing extremists because that’s how it had previously “gotten into serious trouble with the political establishment.”


Barr’s two beliefs—that the left wing posed the most serious threat of political violence and that the FBI wasn’t doing enough to stop it—are not views supported by experts or reality.


As of early 2022, antifascists had not been behind a deadly attack for a quarter century, according to data compiled by the Center for Strategic and International Studies.14 The Anti-Defamation League found that far-right extremists were responsible for 70 percent of the 427 extremist-related killings they tracked over the course of ten years.15 As a report by the George Washington University Program on Extremism found, when measured by human casualties and the frequency of attacks, “the violence committed by [anarchist violent extremist] actors in the past decade pales in comparison to other categories of violent extremists.”16


Trump-appointed former US attorney Thomas T. Cullen acknowledged that reality in 2019, writing that “white supremacy and far-right extremism are among the greatest domestic-security threats facing the United States.”17 He grabbed headlines as “The Trump Appointee Who’s Putting White Supremacists in Jail,”18 prosecuting the white supremacist who rammed his Dodge Challenger into antiracist protesters in Charlottesville, Virginia, killing Heather Heyer, as well as members of the white supremacist Rise Above Movement.19 In September 2020, when Cullen was confirmed as a federal district court judge, Barr praised his work.20


The stark differences between the number of deaths caused by right- and left-wing extremists are, in large part, explained by ideological principles. According to a 2022 study of extremist political views, right-wing extremists are “more often characterized by closed-mindedness and dogmatism and a heightened need for order, structure, and cognitive closure,” characteristics that “have been found to increase in-group bias and lead to greater out-group hostility.” Left-wingers “score higher on openness to new experiences, cognitive complexity, and tolerance of uncertainty” and are “less likely to support social dominance, which could lead to their overall lower likelihood to use violence against adversaries.”21


When left-wing extremists engage in terrorism, they often take pains to save human lives. A radical left-wing group set off a bomb inside the US Capitol on Nov. 7, 1983, blowing a fifteen-foot-wide crater in the wall, destroying a portrait of former South Carolina senator John C. Calhoun (who’d declared slavery a “positive good”), and causing more than a million dollars in damages. What they didn’t do is kill anyone: A call came into the Capitol switchboard warning that a bomb would go off in five minutes (it actually went off ten minutes after the call). In a message to National Public Radio, the group said it chose not to kill “individual members of the ruling class and government,” at least not “this time.”22


Back in the 1970s, during the heyday of the Weather Underground, left-wing bombings were extraordinarily common. They were also very rarely lethal. “During an eighteen-month period in 1971 and 1972, the FBI reported more than 2,500 bombings on US soil, nearly 5 a day,” author Ryan Burrough wrote in Days of Rage, his book on the FBI’s hunt for extremists of the era, “yet less than 1 percent of the 1970s-era bombings led to a fatality; the single deadliest radical-underground attack of the decade killed four people.” The bombs “basically functioned as exploding press releases” and were “little more than a public nuisance” for much of the public.23


If you need a reminder of what the FBI historically did to progressive political leaders, just look at the Twitter replies that flood in every year when the bureau posts in honor of Martin Luther King Jr. Day. For years, the FBI’s MLK tweets have been deluged with reminders of what the bureau did to him during his lifetime, including wiretapping his calls and writing a letter threatening him with blackmail and suggesting he kill himself. “There is but one way out for you,” the letter read. “You better take it before your filthy, abnormal, fraudulent self is bared to the nation.”24


It wasn’t exactly like the federal government had gone soft on left-wing groups in the years before Barr returned to the Justice Department. When police mass arrested hundreds of black-clad protesters on the day of Trump’s inauguration in 2017 after members of the group smashed windows and set fire to a limo in front of the Washington Post building on K Street, federal prosecutors charged all of them with felony rioting regardless of their individual conduct. The lead detective in the case, a DC Metropolitan Police Department union official named Gregg Pemberton, spent nearly a year investigating, meticulously tracking the actions of the masked demonstrators amid tweeting about his dislike of the Black Lives Matters movement and “leftist goons.”25 When it came time for the first six defendants to go to trial, federal prosecutors conceded they had no evidence that any of the defendants actually destroyed anything or hurt anyone.26 Jurors acquitted the first group on all charges,27 and jurors couldn’t get beyond reasonable doubt in the second trial.28 Due to the jury verdicts, the US Attorney’s Office for DC ultimately dropped more than two hundred cases, securing just one felony guilty plea (along with twenty-one misdemeanor pleas).29


The FBI managed to keep its hands out of that mess, leaving the investigation to DC Metropolitan Police. By the fall of 2020, the bureau thought they had a pretty good grasp on the antifascist movement, which was getting a ton of attention from Trump and in conservative media.


In gathering intel on antifa, the FBI even relied on members of the far-right Proud Boys.30 Joe Biggs is a Proud Boys leader whom I’d met covering the unrest in Ferguson, Missouri, back in the days when he was working with Alex Jones’s InfoWars and traveling with members of the far-right Oath Keepers. In July 2020, Biggs says, an FBI special agent based in Daytona Beach, Florida, called up and asked Biggs to meet at a local restaurant. Biggs sat down with two FBI special agents for two hours to hear what Biggs was “seeing on the ground,” and Biggs shared what he knew about antifa in Florida and in other parts of the United States.31


By September 2020, FBI director Chris Wray was explaining to Congress that antifa was “more of an ideology than an organization.”32 That analysis clashed with what Barr and Trump wanted to hear. “I did not like his answers,” Trump said the next day, not disputing that he was considering firing Wray over his comments on antifa. The FBI, Trump had tweeted, was letting antifa “get away with murder.”33


By this point, Barr had been banging the drum about the threat of antifa for months, since the unrest after Floyd’s death. “The violence instigated and carried out by Antifa and other similar groups in connection with the rioting is domestic terrorism and will be treated accordingly,” Barr said soon after Floyd’s death. Mary McCord, the former chief of the National Security Division at the Justice Department, told me it was “unusual and troubling” for Barr to suggest that a certain group was behind the attack. “It is irresponsible to cast blame on any particular group or ideology when the investigations are just beginning,” she said.34 Federal investigations would not bear out any evidence of a widespread criminal conspiracy by antifa.


Barr continued pressing. When President Trump floated a conspiracy theory about a plane “loaded with thugs” headed to DC in September, Barr demurred a bit but said that individuals had traveled to DC from cities like Portland, Washington, and Seattle “for the specific purpose of causing a riot.”35 And when members of a US Marshals task force shot and killed Michael Forest Reinoehl, a self-described antifa member charged with shooting and killing a supporter of the far-right group Patriot Prayer in Oregon,36 Barr said that it was a “significant accomplishment” and that the “streets of our cities are safer with this violent agitator removed.”37 President Trump celebrated the killing, telling Fox News there “has to be retribution.” Officers gave very different stories for why they shot thirty-seven rounds at Reinoehl, and several witnesses indicated that officers started firing as soon as they arrived.38


Barr’s rhetoric was paired with action. In June, just after he showed up to the White House, the US Park Police operations commander said that protesters recognized Barr and began shouting at him, and the operations commander walked over to advise Barr that he was in an unsafe area and should move farther away from the crowd. That’s the first time that the operations commander heard that Trump planned to come out of the White House and go into Lafayette Park.39 Ivanka Trump had recommended that her father make a trip from the Rose Garden to St. John’s Church, maybe hold a scripture reading with faith leaders. “Why don’t you walk to the church, go inside, say a prayer, and show people they should not be afraid,” Ivanka told her dad. “We can’t tear our country apart and burn it to the ground.” Simply standing in front of the church would just be awkward, Ivanka thought. But that’s what Trump decided to do.40


Soon, while Trump held a press conference declaring himself “your president of law and order,” a wall of law enforcement made their move. “They were all wearing riot gear,” one journalist observed. “But there was no riot.”41 Gas canisters. Flash-bangs. Rubber pellets. Batons. Shields. Horses. It looked like a war scene.


Barr joined top officials in Trump’s walk over to the photo op outside the church, although he thought it was poorly timed, and he said the president’s procession to the church “had the feel of spiking the football and overdramatizing a relatively ordinary law enforcement action as a significant presidential ‘victory’ over the demonstrators.” A couple of years later, under the Biden administration, the Justice Department would settle a lawsuit over the Lafayette Square events, and the US Park Police would update their policies.42


To respond to the unrest in DC, Barr brought in federal prison tactical teams from far-flung parts of the country, who typically spent their days dealing with convicted criminals with limited rights. Now, having been deputized by the US Marshals, the prison guards were overseeing American protesters near the White House. They didn’t wear name badges, or even any patches indicating they were from the Bureau of Prisons (BOP). On a conference call with Justice Department beat reporters, a senior DOJ official credited Barr with coming up with the outside-the-box idea of deploying corrections officers against a civilian population. A separate source sent me a photo of Barr posing with the BOP officers in the courtyard of Justice Department headquarters.43 “He brought those people in,” the senior DOJ official said, because dealing with rioters is “exactly what they do best.”44 Days later, news emerged that members of the BOP’s Special Operations Response Team had previously engaged in “inappropriate and dangerous” practice exercises that caused “significant injury” to other BOP staffers, and the Justice Department’s internal watchdog recommended they suspend their training exercises.45


By the fall, the Justice Department was touting federal cases against more than three hundred defendants charged for their actions during demonstrations, including thirty-five charged with assaulting officers and thirty cases of civil disorder.46 Prosecutors had already been employing rarely used federal statutes that had been written to target Black activists in the 1960s.47 One case that went unhighlighted in the Justice Department press release was the federal charges related to the killing of a federal courthouse guard in Oakland, California, during unrest in the city, which was carried out by a pair of members of the far-right boogaloo movement. (Barr did manage to highlight the boogaloo movement alongside antifa when he formed the Task Force on Violent Anti-Government Extremists over the summer.48)


Enter Justin Coffman.


After Floyd’s death, Coffman attended two small daytime Black Lives Matter protests in Jackson, Tennessee.49 He was a little bit of an odd man out. At one protest, he held a black banner featuring an image of a cat. “C.L.A.W.S.,” it read. “Cat Lovers Against White Supremacy.” At another, he rode a Onewheel, a sort of electric skateboard, and wore a black leather jacket adorned with pins that read “Punch Nazis” and with a campaign-style pin that read “Please Kill Me 2020.” He sported a Guy Fawkes gaiter.


The protests Coffman attended were organized by Tracy Boyd, who was determined to keep the protests peaceful, especially in a conservative state like Tennessee. Across the country, rumors about antifa spread on local platforms like Facebook and Nextdoor, with even small towns paranoid about busloads of masked radicals invading their towns.50 In Klamath Falls, Oregon, armed men who were worried that George Soros was busing in members of antifa stood guard, waiting to defend the city from an imaginary army that never arrived.51 In the small resort town of Coeur d’Alene, Idaho, men carrying rifles lined the streets after unfounded fears of “ANTIFA agitators” bubbled up on Facebook pages.52


“Antifa members have threatened our town and said that they’re going to burn everything and to kill white people, basically,” a man said in a Facebook video that racked up more than one hundred thousand views.


One Trump supporter from Pennsylvania, Tammy Bronsburg, recorded a YouTube video talking about a vision she had that members of antifa were coming across a bridge in her town in military tanks. “They had, like, Biden signs on the tanks,” Bronsburg said, wearing a pink “Make America Great Again” hat.53 (Bronsburg, who said there were Illuminati symbols all over her town, would later admit to storming the Capitol on Jan. 6 and taking a shot of Jack Daniels inside a conference room.54)


So protest leader Boyd had his guard up when the white kid dressed in black showed up to protests he helped organize in Jackson, Tennessee. Hmm, Boyd thought. This may be bad.


Boyd’s worries would be calmed once he got a chance to speak with Coffman about his interest in the Black Lives Matter movement. He even realized that Coffman worked at the gas station near Boyd’s house.


Coffman, it turned out, had even complimented the way that police had handled the protests. “Was out in Jackson yesterday and it’s good to see the mayor and the police chief out among the people and talking to them instead of the police attacking people and inciting riots,” he wrote on Facebook.


The police, meanwhile, weren’t so keen on Coffman. At the time he first spotted Coffman, Boyd had been receiving messages suggesting that people were going to come down from Nashville to try to turn their peaceful protest into a violent one. He was so worried that he made a comment to two Jackson Police officers, saying they should keep an eye on the man. One of the officers, Boyd said, assured him they were on top of it, saying they’d been following Coffman on Facebook and were concerned about his posts. “He was clearly on their radar,” Boyd told me.


Two days later, on June 2, 2020, President Donald Trump stood in front of St. John’s Church holding a Bible following the brutal crackdown on protesters.55 Back in Tennessee, a SWAT team; the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives (ATF); and an FBI special agent also descended on Coffman’s home, where they executed a search warrant. Major Phillip Kemper, who supervised the Jackson Police Department’s Special Operations and Criminal Investigative Divisions, had told a state judge that there was probable cause to believe that Coffman was “in possession of a hoax device or otherwise actual improvised explosive incendiary device.”56


Big, if true. But what they were referring to was just an antique bottle filled with apple cider. Working with a professional photographer, Coffman had posed for promotional photos for his band, the Gunpowder Plot. They show him standing in front of a police van, holding a fake Molotov cocktail behind his back.


“Was saving these pictures but now seems like a good time,” he’d written when he posted three of the staged images on Facebook on May 28, five days before law enforcement swarmed his home. “‘You will bathe in the flames born from your hatred,’” he’d written, quoting a song lyric.


The next day, a Jackson City lieutenant reached out to the owner of a tattoo parlor who knew Coffman as an acquaintance and customer. When Coffman got word, he called up the lieutenant to try to clear things up.


“The caller stated that the bottle contained apple juice and that the photograph had been taken previously to be used in support of his musical band,” the search warrant application stated, without making clear that “the Gunpowder Plot” was the name of Coffman’s band. They also found Coffman’s use of the stage name Robert Catesby suspicious, and a Jackson Police Department criminal intelligence analyst named Sarah Webb “advised Major Kemper the 17th century historical figure known as Robert Catesby” was a co-conspirator “in a plan to blow up the king of England,” according to a search warrant application.


Online, Coffman also tried to clear the air about the Molotov mocktail, which he’d used as a centerpiece when he cooked up a steak dinner for his girlfriend, a nurse named Leah Harris. “I don’t know who needs to hear this but we’re a band, not a terrorist organization,” he’d written in one Facebook post. “Stop calling and wasting them people’s time.”57


Law enforcement went ahead with the raid anyway. Inside Coffman’s home, they found some marijuana, “anarchy paraphernalia,” and two guns, which—in Tennessee—isn’t anything to write home about.


“Everybody in Jackson owns guns,” Robert Joe Haynes, Coffman’s Republican cousin, told me. “Every friend I’ve got has eight or ten guns at least.”


Standing on Coffman’s porch, an FBI special agent had some questions for Coffman. “He was asking me if I was antifa and all that bullshit, which I’m not,” Coffman said.


Coffman was then taken to jail for the pot charges. He got kicked out of the home and lost his job, but he tried to piece things back together over the next few months. The FBI special agent would occasionally reach out, looking for intel on antifa. One problem.


“There ain’t none of them in Jackson,” Coffman said. “I didn’t have anything.”


Coffman said the FBI special agent expressed to him that he didn’t think Coffman was a threat but noted that it was a sensitive time.


Months later, in September, Barr had a phone conference with the nation’s top federal prosecutors, urging them to consider bringing sedition charges against violent demonstrators.58 The same week, a Jackson Police Department officer on an ATF task force swore out an affidavit charging Coffman with a rare crime: being a drug addict in possession of a firearm. Coffman had admitted smoking marijuana a couple of times per day.


Coffman was arrested the next month. “Madison County Man Charged in Both Federal and State Courts for Unlawful Possession of Firearms and Possession of a Hoax Device During Civil Unrest,” read the press release blasted out to Justice Department reporters. The press release, like the search warrant, never mentioned that the Gunpowder Plot was a band. I only learned that after poking around Facebook and hunting down the post myself. It wasn’t just the public who were being misled: when a state grand jury indicted Coffman, they weren’t even informed about the details of the alleged hoax device.59


In the press release, US Attorney D. Michael Dunavant praised law enforcement’s “outstanding investigative work.”60 The tough-on-crime prosecutor had previously attended a Trump rally holding a “Make America Safe Again” sign and posted the image on his Twitter page. That was an odd move for a federal prosecutor, who would typically avoid overt support for political campaigns.


Coffman was working at the Circle K convenience store when two cops he knew from their stops in the store for free coffee came in and grabbed him. Now he was stuck in Madison County Jail in the middle of the COVID-19 pandemic. Breakfast was oatmeal. Lunch was a bologna sandwich, maybe a PB&J. One day they got to go outside because the shower wouldn’t stop running, and another inmate told Coffman that was the first time they’d been outside in five months. The conditions were disgusting, Coffman said. There was no in-person visitation allowed.


Coffman spent weeks in custody, waiting on a detention hearing. The government wanted to keep him locked up until trial. Coffman had brought witnesses to support his case for release, but the prosecution’s argument for detention was so weak that they weren’t necessary. Coffman recalled that US Magistrate Judge Jon A. York was deeply skeptical of the government’s request to keep him locked up.61


“He basically said to the [federal prosecutor], ‘Your own witness doesn’t think he’s a threat, and the only proof you have is Facebook posts, and here in America, we don’t lock people up for their First Amendment rights,’” Coffman said. Coffman was still being held on the state charge, until a reader who’d seen my coverage reached out to Coffman’s girlfriend, Leah, and offered to pay his bond.


Coffman got out of jail just in time to cast his ballot in the 2020 presidential election. He walked into the polling station wearing a T-shirt mimicking the Black Flag punk band’s logo, only with the words “Black Lives Matter.”62 His candidate, libertarian Jo Jorgensen, ended up with more than 29,000 votes in the state, finishing a distant third with roughly 1 percent of the total votes cast in the state. Trump received more than 1.8 million, securing over 60 percent of the vote and the state’s 11 electoral college votes.


Months later, in July 2021, chief US District Court judge S. Thomas Anderson tossed the prosecution’s case in the garbage pail. He wrote that the information about the band was “doubtlessly easily accessible and known by the affiant and would have been highly relevant to Judge Morgan’s finding of probable cause.” No “reasonably prudent person,” the sexagenarian George W. Bush appointee wrote in his opinion, could believe in good faith that Coffman “was in possession of a hoax device or improvised explosive incendiary device.”63 He suppressed the results of the search, leaving the government with no evidence to present. The next month, Assistant US Attorney Hillary L. Parham moved to drop the case. The state case soon followed.


Coffman wasn’t the only person swept into law enforcement’s desperate search for intelligence on a movement with no hierarchical structure. Joel Feingold was questioned by a New York Police Department (NYPD) intelligence officer and an FBI special agent after he was arrested outside his Brooklyn home not long after Floyd’s death.64 According to Feingold, the “very slick” FBI special agent told him law enforcement wanted “to know who’s hijacking your movement and making it violent.”


In North Carolina, a man got a call from the FBI after he tweeted in jest that he was “the leader of Charlotte, NC Antifa” after Barr referred to antifa as domestic terrorists.65 “What makes you email the FBI saying you’re the leader of antifa in Charlotte?” the agent asked him, before asking if he would be interested in becoming an informant.


And in Coffman’s state of Tennessee, four people who posted about Black Lives Matter had officers of an FBI Joint Terrorism Task Force show up to their homes and workplaces with questions about antifa.66


Barr couldn’t have been surprised that FBI special agents were running scattershot investigations. In his memoir, he acknowledged that some of the tactics used by far-left groups made investigating them more difficult, including their “decentralized, cell-like structure and more sophisticated ways of operating.” He wrote that left-wing groups were able to “deftly exploit the seam between rioting and legitimate First Amendment protest” by “insinuating themselves into protests and interweaving their violence with legitimate protest activity.”


Chris Mathias, a journalist and former colleague of mine who is writing a book on antifa, said that as the Right started to make antifa into a boogeyman, the term really lost all meaning.


“It became a catch-all for anyone that the right disliked. Black Lives Matter was antifa, anti-Trump protesters were antifa, even Democratic politicians were antifa, even though when you talk to actual antifascists they hate Democrats,” Mathias said.


There are no real leaders or spokespeople for antifa, and while some cities have more established antifascist groups, often people just come together temporarily in support of a shared goal. Mathias pointed to Portland, where a “coalition spanning from people in black bloc to kind of normie libs” gathered to shut down the Proud Boys in what some had predicted could have been the most violent far-right rally since Charlottesville. Many of the mainstream liberals probably didn’t care for the black bloc tactics, but the bigger priority was shutting down the Proud Boys.


They did outnumber the Proud Boys. But when it came time to shut down the protest, cops went after the antifascists, and Proud Boys cheered.67


I spent a lot of time poking around Coffman’s Facebook page researching the story, and there was one post I couldn’t get out of my head. Not long before his arrest, Coffman had posted a “distracted boyfriend” meme that showed conservatives, as the boyfriend, staring lustfully at “made up stuff about antifa” while ignoring “tangible proof of violent white supremacists.”68















CHAPTER 3



“The Edge”


Nov. 4, 2020


“Karen was upset,” the Republican lawyer wrote.


John M. Downing Jr., an attorney from New Jersey with a focus on “motor vehicle, construction, and premises liability matters,” went out to Detroit during the 2020 election as a volunteer with Lawyers for Trump. The initiative had been launched in July with a mock-up of Donald Trump as Uncle Sam, in the style of the famous US Army recruitment poster created by James Montgomery Flagg in 1917 during World War I.


“I WANT YOU TO JOIN LAWYERS FOR TRUMP,” the Trump version of the recruitment poster read. “HELP PREVENT VOTER FRAUD ON ELECTION DAY.”1


The Trump campaign was behind the effort, but it had the support of the Republican National Committee. RNC chairwoman Ronna McDaniel tweeted a copy of the image, adding on an appeal to patriotism by declaring Joe Biden’s agenda “a threat to our country.”2


For nearly four decades, since 1982, the RNC had been legally restricted from monitoring polling places. That court-enforced consent decree was put in place after the RNC, under a program called the National Ballot Security Task Force, hired county deputy sheriffs and local police officers to target “predominantly black and Hispanic polling places” during the gubernatorial election in New Jersey. Officers showed up displaying revolvers and two-way radios, wearing armbands that read “National Ballot Security Task Force.”3 The polling places were surrounded by large signs, putting voters on notice in bright red ink:




WARNING


THIS AREA IS BEING PATROLLED BY THE


NATIONAL BALLOT


SECURITY TASK FORCE


IT IS A CRIME TO FALSIFY A BALLOT OR


TO VIOLATE ELECTION LAWS.





Thomas H. Kean, the Republican gubernatorial candidate and future chairman of the Sept. 11 Commission, ended up squeaking out a win by just 1,797 votes, the smallest margin in Garden State history.4 Kean owed much of his success to his chief strategist, a well-dressed twenty-nine-year-old who was a partner at a startup political consulting group named Black, Manafort & Stone,5 which had recently signed a thirtysomething real estate developer named Donald Trump.6 His name was Roger Stone.


Stone, of course, has denied having anything to do with the Ballot Security Task Force, saying it was run by the RNC and New Jersey Republican State Committee.7 But Richard Richards, an early backer of then president Ronald Reagan and then head of the RNC, said Democrats “would have stolen the election” without the program.8 “Those guys would have stolen it from us, and we protected our fannies,” Richards said.9


Heading up the effort was a twenty-nine-year-old named John A. Kelly, the director of the National Ballot Security Task Force, who was also deputized as a deputy sheriff in New Jersey.10 Kelly was born in New York, and his parents lived in Manhattan.11 As an eighteen-year-old, he was the first voter under the age of twenty-one to register in New York City days after the Supreme Court upheld provisions of the Voting Rights Act of 1970 that extended the right to vote for those eighteen to twenty-one. Kelly told reporters he was a Republican and a freshman at Notre Dame.12


A decade later, a couple of months before the 1981 election, the chair of the Mercer County GOP laid out the plan at a diner outside of Princeton. For $15,000, he’d hire off-duty cops to become “flying squads” that targeted Trenton. Kelly liked the idea, knocked down the cost to $10,000, and ran it in three other cities with significant populations of Black voters: Newark, Camden, and Atlantic City.13 All told, the RNC spent about $80,000 on the effort in New Jersey, and they planned to replicate it in other states.14


In addition to their suspicions about voters in cities, Republicans began to have questions about Kelly himself. A couple of weeks after the 1981 campaign, Kelly was suspended by the RNC after discrepancies had emerged about his résumé. The New York Times reported that city records showed he’d been arrested in 1976 for attempting to impersonate an officer and possessing stolen property and had been discharged as an officer in Manhattan in 1975 after complaints came in that he had twice displayed a gun in public: in a restaurant and in a traffic incident. He applied for a House select committee investigator job he hadn’t received and then was ousted from the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) for saying he had been on that congressional committee, a FOP spokesman said. His biography later claimed he was director of government affairs for the FOP, a position that did not exist.15 He worked as a bailiff for the US Court of International Trade for six months, claiming he was a Notre Dame graduate and was attending Fordham Law School.16 Then, while working at the RNC, he reportedly told people he worked at the White House and “was promising people U.S. judgeships,” a Reagan administration official said. Despite questions about his own background, Kelly was vetting potential political appointees, making sure they were registered Republicans and Reagan supporters.


“He’s just the ultimate con man,” said Edward Rollins, Reagan’s assistant for political affairs.17 Carl Golden, Kean’s press secretary, would later describe Kelly as “a complete psychopath,” adding that he was “a short, rotund guy nobody trusted or liked” who “could strut while sitting down.”18


Kelly resigned his post at the end of 1981, saying he didn’t want to “bring unnecessary negative attention” to the RNC.19 By the end of 1982, the RNC had entered into an agreement with the DNC that barred them from certain poll-watching activities. Among the signatories was John Barry—Trump’s personal attorney and brother-in-law—who represented Kelly. A couple of decades later, in 2006, Kelly would be named cochair of Catholic outreach at the RNC20 alongside Leonard Leo21 (the legal powerhouse who served on Lawyers for Trump) and would pop up at a party thrown in honor of Pope Benedict during his 2008 trip to DC.22 In 2017, he and his wife made a $1 million donation to Notre Dame,23 the school that he’d portrayed himself as a graduate of decades earlier. A press release called him a “1974 Notre Dame alumnus.” Nobody knew him as John A. Kelly at that point. He went by Jack, and he’d carved out a successful career as a DC lobbyist. The army veteran had even served as chairman of the US Advisory Committee on National Cemeteries and Memorials.


When I reached him in 2023, Kelly declined to answer detailed questions about the events that had long-spanning impacts on the RNC. “It was fifty years ago,” Kelly said, speaking of events that happened forty-two years prior. Kelly’s 1981 resignation from the RNC came over a year before the internet was even “born,” in 1983,24 and it would be decades before the internet would fundamentally reshape human society. In the pre-internet days, when finding a person’s worst screw-ups took much more work than a quick Google search, it was possible to reinvent yourself, even when your mistakes had been thoroughly documented in the country’s newspaper of record. Kelly had changed, he’d pivoted, he’d evolved. He’d become a philanthropist. Now, at seventy-one, he’d left that life behind.


Kelly may have moved on, but in the decades after the 1982 agreement, the RNC couldn’t. The organization was accused of repeatedly violating the consent decree: in Louisiana in 1986, in North Carolina in 1990, in Ohio in 2004, and in New Mexico in 2008. In 2012, ahead of Obama’s reelection, a federal appeals court upheld a lower court ruling that had upheld the consent decree but put an expiration date in place. Restrictions on the RNC’s poll-watching activities would fall on Dec. 1, 2017, near the end of Trump’s first year in office.25


So in 2020—for the first time since USA Today was founded, since Michael Jackson released Thriller, since Sarah Huckabee Sanders was born, and since EPCOT opened in Walt Disney World—the RNC would get to run programs targeting purported voter fraud. They had a $20 million plan and wanted to recruit fifty thousand poll watchers in fifteen states.26


“Democrats are deploying an ‘army of poll watchers’ this November, and for the first time in decades the Republican Party can too,” McDaniel wrote.27


Downing, the Republican lawyer from New Jersey, arrived in Detroit believing a myth that had been deeply ingrained in conservative circles for decades, one that had roots in the Reconstruction era and the backlash to the Voting Rights Act: there was a lot of cheating going on.28 It was his first time working in elections, and he told me he’d done some Zoom training before he headed out to Detroit at the suggestion of Lawyers for Trump. He spent five days in the city, including Election Day and the day after, Nov. 4.29


In Detroit, a record number of absentee ballots were being counted in what was then known as the TCF Center, the sixteenth-largest convention center in the United States. At 10:00 a.m. on Monday, elections workers were finally allowed to begin processing absentee ballots, although they were not allowed to open the ballots, just the outer envelopes. “Absentee Ballot processing starts in Detroit today. 134 tables operating for 10 hours,” tweeted Mike Roman, Trump’s director of Election Day operations.30 “Trump Challengers will have 100% coverage (unless crooked officials try to kick them out)!”31


Soon after the process began, a man with poll challenger credentials who was wearing a full-face white mask similar to the one that Michael Myers wore in the “Halloween” series created a disturbance and was removed. It set the stage for the horror show to come.32


Things went relatively smoothly on Tuesday. For most of Election Day, Trump was doing better than anticipated in Michigan, and Downing went to bed thinking that the president had won the state. “I was called at 7:00 a.m.,” Downing said. “It had completely flipped.”


From his hotel room, Downing hit the phones, calling up volunteer GOP poll challengers and asking them to go to the convention center. He wasn’t the only one rounding up the troops. One message shared by a county GOP Facebook page on the morning of Nov. 4 summoned Republicans to go to TCF to “protect our lead,” as though Republicans were acting like goalies, blocking shots and running down the clock. “35,000 ballots were suddenly found at 3:00 am in Detroit,” the message said. One message from the North Oakland Republican Club offered logistical advice to the suburbanites it summoned to the TCF Center in downtown Detroit: “Try parking on the roof.”33


A Republican volunteer named Karen did. While Downing was at his hotel, Karen called Downing “several times” to tell him that poll challengers were stuck on a roof deck at the TCF Center, waiting to enter. A security guard wouldn’t let them in. Downing, who had never been to the TCF Center before, drove over from his hotel room. He eventually found the group of about twenty people, who had gone to the roof, he later wrote in an affidavit, “because there was free parking.”


Summoning random people to rush down to a location where they believed Democrats were perpetrating a criminal conspiracy, as it turns out, led to some problems. Many of those who arrived had no clue about the basics of how vote counting works or the procedures for challenging them. One GOP poll challenger who arrived went through “about 20 minutes of training” before being handed credentials. Lack of experience aside, there’s a constant assumption of fraud throughout the hundreds of pages of affidavits later filed by the Trump campaign.


Calling these individuals “poll challengers” is a bit misleading. Some of the challengers did have experience and some remote sense of how the process worked. But many of them were just random people who saw a message on Facebook, thought the election was being stolen, and got a few minutes of training before being “certified”—it sounds more official than it is—as poll challengers by the Michigan Republican Party.


“I didn’t quite process that, wait, these people are just regular, normal people off the street who walked in here, presented a badge with whatever party they were with and said ‘I’m a challenger,’” recalled Tresa Baldas, a reporter with the Detroit Free Press.


“They had no idea how the system worked. They had no idea what they were there for,” said Chris Thomas, the former elections director in Michigan who came out of retirement to assist with the 2020 election. “Many of them—not all of them, but many of them—they were on a mission. They clearly came in believing there was mass cheating going on in Detroit and they were on a mission to catch it.”34


There wasn’t a lot of nuance there. When Trump said it was important to watch for fraud in “certain areas” in 2016, or when he accidentally sparked a merchandising bonanza after Philly sports fans adopted his “bad things happen in Philadelphia” line during a 2020 presidential debate,35 everybody understood what—who—he was talking about. He was talking about Black voters.


The notion that mass voter fraud is changing the outcome of elections “is a politically constructed myth” that capitalizes on “generally and widely held beliefs that are rooted in facts and real historical experience, notions such as corruption in party politics and government but also stereotypes and class—and racially biased preconceptions of corruption among groups long stigmatized by their marginal or minority status in US society,” as political science professor Lorraine C. Minnite explained in her book The Myth of Voter Fraud. Minnite, even before Trump jump-started his political career by questioning Obama’s birth certificate, wrote in the 2010 book that the voter fraud myth could be rejuvenated “with a wink and a nod—and maybe a little bullying.” And rejuvenate it Trump did.


In Detroit, the racial dynamics were impossible to miss: a bunch of white Republicans had flooded into a majority-Black city on the premise that there was a massive criminal conspiracy. One challenger made sure to note in her affidavit that she was a “pregnant white woman.” There were numerous complaints about Black Lives Matter masks. One woman complained she was intimidated by “poll workers wearing BLM face masks” as well as a “man of intimidating size with a BLM shirt on.” When I checked her Facebook page, I found it littered with COVID-19 conspiracy theories, debunked right-wing memes, and a lengthy post about the rapture, the Antichrist, and microchips. There was also a painting of Trump, with Jesus Christ resting his hands on Trump’s shoulders.36


One GOP watcher said that roughly 80 percent of the military ballots he saw processed went for Joe Biden, which he found suspicious. “I had always been told that military personnel tended to be more conservative, so this stuck out to me,” Branden Gaicobazzi wrote.37


By early afternoon, the situation had gotten tense. Democrats, Republicans, and nonpartisan groups were each allowed 134 challengers inside the room under election rules, but the number had swelled past that, with hundreds of challengers “freely roaming” inside the hall without any screening process. Democrats and Republicans both exceeded their allotted numbers, so an official came outside the hall and told them that no additional partisan challengers would be admitted.38
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